1979

# State of Utah v. Frankie Quinn Sommers : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant was charged in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County upon an information alleging a violation of the provisions of Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-6-501, a felony of the third degree. Particularly, the accusation against Mr. Sommers read that he:

"with intent to defraud, knowingly and intentionally uttered a forged instrument, to-wit: a bank check with the face value of less than one hundred dollars, purporting to bear the signature of Helvin R. Sommers, Sr., he, the said Frankie Quinn Sommers then and there knowing at the time that said check was forged."

### DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The defendant entered a plea of "Not Guilty" and the matter was set for trial. Trial with jury was had on June 27, 1978 with the jury returning a verdict of "Guilty". Prior to entry of plea, the defendant motioned the District Court to Quash the Information upon the basis that the defendant had been denied his right to preliminary hearing upon the crime charged in the Information. The Court denied defendant's Motion to Quash.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of judgment of the lower court, or failing that, a new trial.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of Arraignment, the defendant moved the court to Quash the Information. The basis for such motion is that the defendant had not had a proper preliminary hearing upon the crime charged in the Information. In the Affidavit in Support of the Motion to Quash, the defendant, through his attorney, stated:

1. That a preliminary hearing was held May 8, 1978 in Provo City Court upon a complaint alleging that the defendant, Frankie Quinn Sommers, on the 10th day of April, 1978 did commit the crime of a "third degree felony, to-wit: violation of 76-6-501, Utah

Criminal Code, in that he, the said Frankie Quinn Sommers, at the time and place aforesaid, did willfully, and unlawfully make a forged instrument, to-wit: a bank check with a face value of less than one hundred dollars, purporting to bear the signature of Melvin R. Sommers, Sr., he the said Frankie Quinn Sommers, then and there knowing at the time that said check was forged..."

2. Utah County Attorney, Noall T. Wootton, moved to amend the complaint prior to the presentation of evidence, adding the words: "with the purpose to defraud another."
3. Evidence was then presented upon the complaint aforementioned. After the presentation of the State's evidence, County Attorney Noall Wootton again moved to amend the complaint. Mr. Wootton's proposed amendment was to substitute the word "utter" for and in the place of the word "make".
4. Attorney for defendant, Sheldon R Carter, then objected to the proposed amendment as substantially altering a charge or accusation made against the defendant. The amendment was allowed by the Provo City Judge and the complaint was then amended at that time substituting the word "utter" for the word "make".
5. The attorney for defendant was prepared for and did direct his questions of confrontation to the issue of "making a forged document", and that changing the language of the complaint to "utter" substantially and materially changed the complaint to the prejudice of the defendant by denying the defendant his right to a preliminary hearing.

The Court denied defendant's Motion to Quash and set the case for trial.

#### ARGUMENT

At a preliminary examination the magistrate must first read to the defendant the complaint. The Utah Code of Criminal

Procedure provides for a preliminary examination to be conducted by the magistrate first reading to the defendant the complaint and the depositions of the witnesses examined or making the complaint if depositions were taken. Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-15-9.

Further, witnesses are to be examined in the presence of the defendant and may be cross-examined on the defendant's behalf. Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-15-10.

After the examination of witnesses on the part of the State is closed, any witnesses the defendant may produce may be sworn and examined. Utah Code Annotated, Section 77-15-11.

Consequently, it appears that the defendant has the right to demand and know the nature and the cause or accusation against him, to have a copy thereof, to testify in his own behalf, and to confront the witnesses against him. See also Article I, Section 12, Utah State Constitution.

It appears well settled that a substantial amendment of an Information requires the accused be arraigned on the amended Information. State v. Hurd, 105 Pac. 2d 59 (Wash. 1940); State v. Van Cleve, 32 Pac. 461 ( Wash); State v. Hamshaw, 112 Pac. 379 (Wash); Bonhamn v. State, 142 Pac. 1092 (Okla. Crim.); Handley v. Zenoff, 398 Pac. 2d 241 (Nev. 1965); McKay v. State, 132 NW 741 (Neb. 1911); 21 C.J.S. 2d Sec. 455, Criminal Law.

In McKay v. State, (supra), the conviction of the accused



was reversed on appeal where the trial court allowed the prosecution to amend the information and proceed under the original amended information without allowing a new preliminary hearing. The State argued upon appeal that the amendment allowed by the court was immaterial and that no preliminary hearing was required.

The Court placed great emphasis on whether or not defense available to the defendant before the amendment was equally available after the amendment. A second factor mentioned by the Court which was of great importance was whether or not the amendment added any new elements of the crime not included in the original, unamended Information. Finding that the defendant was denied his right to a new preliminary hearing, the Court reversed the conviction.

In the present case before the Court, the defendant was arraigned in the Circuit Court upon a complaint alleging that he did "unlawfully make a forged instrument...". Defendant's attorney was prepared for and did direct his questions of confrontation to the issue of "making a forged document". After the State's presentation of evidence at the preliminary examination, the State moved to amend the complaint substantially altering the charge from "making a forged instrument" to uttering a forged instrument" and thereby prejudiced the defendant by denying the defendant his right to a preliminary examination and the rights thereunder.

The Utah Court has examined the issue in State v. Redmond, 19 UT 2d 272, 430 Pac 2d 901 (1967). There, the original information charged the defendant with "uttering a fictitious check purporting to be an instrument in writing for the payment of money of C. J. McCall". After the defendant had entered a plea of not guilty thereto, the Court permitted the District Attorney to amend by striking the name of C.J. McCall and inserting the name of Carl J. Coomb. On appeal the defendant contended that he had never had a preliminary hearing on the charge as contained in the amended information. In affirming the conviction, the Court held that the amendment was allowed to correct an "obvious" error and that the failure of the defendant to object was fatal. State v. Redmond (supra) is distinguished from the case at bar, in that, the amended information is not an "obvious" error and in addition, counsel for defendant made a timely objection.

In State v. Matthews, 13 UT 2d 391, 375 Pac. 2d 392 (1962) the defendant was charged and convicted with "misusing public monies". The original complaint and information did not allege or designate the defendant to have appropriated the public money while employed as a Deputy Salt Lake County Recorder. This latter phrase was included in an amendment to the Information proffered by the prosecutor just before he was to make his opening statement at trial.

The trial court, over the objection of the defense counsel, allowed the amendment.

On appeal, the defendant contended that the amendment had the effect of alleging new elements to the offense charged upon which he should be afforded another preliminary hearing. The Court found that although the defendant objected to the amendment, he did not advance his argument to the trial court and did not show a reason why the trial should not proceed at that time. Upon defendant's failure to do so, the court affirmed the conviction.

State v. Matthews, (supra) is distinguishable from the present case in that defense counsel advanced his reasons for the court to quash the information in his affidavit.

#### CONCLUSION

It is well settled that a substantial and material amendment to an Information requires that an accused be granted a new preliminary hearing upon that amended information. However, the defendant must preserve his right to a new preliminary hearing by a timely objection and through the advancement of reasons for a new preliminary hearing to the Court.