1979

State of Utah v. Frankie Quinn Sommers : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged with the crime of forgery,
a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. §
76-6-501 (1953), as amended.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellant was tried by a jury and convicted as
charged in the Fourth Judicial District Court, the Honorable
George E. Ballif, Judge, presiding.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmation of the lower court's
decision.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 10, 1978, the appellant, "with intent to defraud, knowingly and intentionally uttered a forged instrument, to-wit: a bank check with the face value of less than \$100.00, purporting to bear the signature of Melvin R. Sommers, Sr.," (R.37). Appellant knew at that time that the check was forged (R.37). Appellant committed a third degree felony proscribed by Section 76-6-501.

On April 27, 1978, the appellant was arraigned and given a copy of the complaint which set out the crime as being the offense described in Section 76-6-501. The complaint was read and a date was set for the preliminary hearing.

The preliminary hearing took place on May 8, 1978. At that time the complaint was amended in these two ways: the words "with intent to defraud another" were inserted, and the word "make" was substituted for the word "utter." The appellant's attorney objected to the amendments, but the objections were overruled (R.38).

The information was filed on May 11, 1978. The information included the correct section number for the offense (Section 76-6-501) and the amendments made at the preliminary hearing.

A motion to quash the information was made and the request was denied.

On June 27, 1978, the jury returned a verdict of guilty (R.14), and appellant filed a notice of appeal on August 24, 1978 (R.8).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE APPELLANT WAS AWARE OF THE CHARGE AGAINST HIM AND WAS ABLE TO PREPARE FOR HIS DEFENSE.

Appellant contends that the amendments to the complaint substantially changed the complaint and were prejudicial to him since his attorney was prepared for and directed his question to the issue of "making" a forged document (R.34).

Applying the case of Harris v. Smith, 541 P.2d 343 (Utah 1975), appellant's argument is without merit. In that case, the appellant was charged and convicted of forgery but claimed that the complaint filed against him was defective in that it did not clearly inform him of the crime charged. This Court stated that there was no merit to the claim since the objection was directed to the complaint and not to the information. In addition, this Court held that an information is valid and sufficient if it charges the offense by using the name given to it by

statute, or by the common law or if it refers to a section of the statute creating the offense charged.

Although the information here did not specifically charge the offense by using the name given to it by statute or common law ("forgery"), the information did refer to the section of the Utah Code Annotated which created the offense, Section 76-6-501. This description, Section 76-6-501, was contained in the complaint and in the information. The appellant, therefore, was informed of the crime charged against him.

This Court, in an earlier case, State v. Jensen, 103 Utah 478, 136 P.2d 949 (1943), found that where the complaint did not state which section of the code the defendant was charged under, and where the language of the complaint did not fit the requirements of the statute under which she was actually convicted, the defendant was convicted of a crime for which she was never charged. In the appellant's case, the complaint and the information stated the proper code section, 76-6-501. The complaint cited Section 76-6-501 before any amendment was made and, under Jensen, supra, appellant was, at that time, aware of the crime charged.

In addition, the form used in the complaint and the information to describe the offense was consistent with Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-47 (1953), as amended, which states: "The following forms may be used. . . Forgery-- A.B. forged a certain instrument purporting to be a promissory note (or describe the note or give its tenor or substance)."

In the present case, the complaint and information state that the appellant is charged with forging an instrument purporting to bear the signature of Melvin R. Sommers, Sr. (R.37,40). This form fits the requirements of Section 77-21-47.

Furthermore, Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-8 (1953), as amended, states in relevant part:

(1) The information or indictment may charge, and is valid and sufficient if it charges the offense for which the defendant is being prosecuted in one or more of the following ways: . . . (1) (a) by using the name given to the offense by the common law or by statute . . . (2) The information or indictment may refer to a section or subsection of any statute creating the offense charged therein, and in determining the validity or sufficiency of such information or indictment regard shall be had to such reference.

State v. Redmond, 19 Utah 2d 272, 430 P.2d 901 (1967), and State v. Matthews, 13 Utah 2d 391, 375 P.2d 392 (1962), are two cases which the appellant cites in his brief.

Both are distinguishable on their facts and do not apply in the instant case. The Redmond case involved an amended information; the instant case is concerned with an amended complaint. In Matthews, supra, this Court held that the ruling of a trial court permitting amendment to an information after the trial had commenced shall not be reviewable unless the defendant can show a reason why the trial should not proceed. Appellant claims that reasons were advanced for quashing the information and, therefore, Matthews does not bar judicial review. However, the Matthews situation is not relevant here since it involved an information which was amended after trial commenced. In the present case, it was the complaint, not the information, which was amended. The information was legally sufficient and the appellant received a fair preliminary hearing on the crime charged.

CONCLUSION

The amendments to the original complaint did not substantially change the complaint since the proper code section was referred to in all cases. The appellant, therefore, was clearly informed before the preliminary hearing of the charge made against him and was able to prepare for defense. Harris v. Smith, supra.

Respondent urges this Court to affirm the lower court's decision.